IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DWIGHT T. EAGLIN, :

Appellant, :

:

vs.

Case No. SC06-760

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar Number 0234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P.O. Box 9000-PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	10
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	11
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	15
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	42
ARGUMENT	45

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of the original 30 volumes (plus an index) and eight supplemental volumes (plus an index). Citations to the record in this brief will be by volume and page number, with an "S" to indicate when a supplemental volume is being cited.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 3, 2003, an indictment was filed in Charlotte County Circuit Court charging Appellant, Dwight T. Eaglin, and two other persons, Stephen V. Smith and Michael Jones, with two counts of first degree murder. (Vol. 1, pp. 6-7) Count I charged them with killing State Correctional Officer Darla K. Lathrem with premeditation, "or while engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate a felony, to wit: escape or resisting officer with violence, . . . by inflicting or causing to be inflicted, blunt trauma to her head[.]" (Vol. 1, p. 6) Count II charged them with killing Charles B. Fuston with premeditation, "or while engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate a felony, to wit: escape, . . . by inflicting or causing to be inflicted, blunt trauma to his head[.]" (Vol. 1, p. 6) The offenses allegedly occurred on or about June 11, 2003. (Vol. 1, p. 6)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial beginning on February 20, 2006, with the Honorable William Blackwell presiding. (Vol. 22, p. 64-Vol. 29, p. 1383)¹ The guilt phase was held from February 20-24, 2006. (Vol. 18, pp. 3511-3538; Vol. 22, p. 64-Vol. 28, p. 1198) The jury returned verdicts finding Mr. Eaglin

¹ Mr. Eaglin was tried alone. Although the disposition of the codefendants' cases does not appear in the record, for the Court's information, according to a report in the news media, Stephen Smith was sentenced to death, while Michael Jones was sentenced to life after pleading guilty.

guilty of both premeditated and felony murder as to both victims. (Vol. 18, pp. 3600-3601; Vol. 28, pp. 1192-1193) As to victim Darla Lathrem, the verdict indicated that the felonies which supported felony murder were escape or attempted escape and resisting an officer with violence or its attempt. (Vol. 18, p. 3600; Vol. 28, p. 1193) As to victim Charles Fuston, the verdict indicated that the felony which supported felony murder was escape or attempted escape. (Vol. 18, p. 3601; Vol. 28, p. 1193)

The penalty phase was held on February 27, 2006. (Vol. 29, pp. 1200-1383) After receiving evidence from both the State and the defense, including testimony from Mr. Eaglin himself, the jury returned recommendations that he be sentenced to death for both homicides, by votes of eight to four. (Vol. 19, pp. 3621-3622; Vol. 29, pp. 1378-1382)

A <u>Spencer</u>² hearing was held before Judge Blackwell on March 10, 2006. (SVol. 7, pp. 1243-1282) The State presented additional victim impact evidence at the hearing. (SVol. 7, pp. 1250-1260) Mr. Eaglin himself addressed the court briefly. (SVol. 7, pp. 1261-1262)

Both the State and the defense filed written memoranda discussing what sentences Mr. Eaglin should receive. (Vol. 19, pp. 3630-3656, 3657-3667) Attached to Mr. Eaglin's "Spencer

² Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

Hearing Memorandum" as exhibits were copies of lawsuits filed against the Florida Department of Corrections by the estates of Charles Fuston and Darla Lathrem. (Vol. 19, 3634-3656)

The sentencing hearing, at which Judge Blackwell read into the record his order sentencing Mr. Eaglin to death, was held on March 31, 2006. (Vol. 30, pp. 1385-1411) The court found that the following aggravating circumstances applied to the killing of Darla Lathrem (Vol. 19, pp. 3683-3685; Vol. 30, pp. 1389-1395): (1.) The capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under a sentence of imprisonment. (2.) The Defendant was previously convicted of another capital offense or a felony involving the use or threat of violence. (3.) The capital felony was committed for the purpose of preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody. (4.) The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (5.) The victim of the crime was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his or her official duties. As to the killing of Charles Fuston, the court found that the first, second, and fourth aggravating circumstances that were found as to Officer Lathrem also applied to Fuston. (Vol. 19, pp. 3685-3686; Vol. 30, pp. 1395-1398) As for mitigation, the court gleaned from the presentence investigation that Mr. Eaglin had "suffered a

severely abusive childhood with a severely dysfunctional family" and gave this factor "some weight." (Vol. 19, p. 3686: Vol. 30, pp. 1398-1400) The court rejected as mitigating evidence Mr. Eaglin had presented regarding numerous lapses in security at Charlotte Correctional Institution, where the homicides occurred, and also rejected "three consecutive life sentences as a mitigator." (Vol. 19, pp. 3687-3689; Vol. 30, pp. 1401-1407) The court then imposed two sentences of death for the two homicides. (Vol. 19, p. 3689; Vol. 30, pp. 1408-1409)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

In June, 2003, a construction project was taking place at Charlotte Correctional Institution "to convert the prison to accommodate closed management inmates. . ." (Vol. 25, p. 463) G-Dormitory was one of the buildings being converted, and so no inmates were being housed there. (Vol. 25, pp. 463-464)

On June 11, 2003, inmates Dwight Eaglin (Appellant), Charles Fuston, and John Beaston were working as welders at the back of G-Dorm. (Vol. 25, pp. 465-470) Inmates Stephen Smith and Michael Jones, who were "the plumbers of the compound," arrived at G-Dorm late in the afternoon (Vol. 25, pp. 465-467, 470) The plumbers had access to tools to which other inmates did not have access. (Vol. 26, p. 629) Correctional Officer Mary Poliseo escorted the five inmates to A-Dormitory to work there, arriving around 4:10 p.m. (Vol. 25, pp. 470-472, 486-487) The inmates took their welding tools with them; they were in a locker, which Mr. Eaglin pulled behind him. (Vol. 25, pp. 473-474) A-Dormitory was not being used at that time to house inmates; it was being renovated. (Vol. 24, pp. 345, 406; Vol. 26, p. 639) The dorm had a camera system, but it was not working that night. (Vol. 26, pp. 657-658) At A-Dorm, Officer Poliseo came into contact with Officer Darla Lathrem, a certified correctional officer, who was 38 years old. (Vol. 24,

pp. 344-345; Vol. 25, pp. 474-475, 477, 500) When Officer Poliseo left, Officer Lathrem was by herself with the five inmates. (Vol. 25, p. 488) It was common for Officer Lathrem to be alone with five or more inmates, and common practice for only one officer to be supervising an inmate crew working at night. (Vol. 24, pp. 363-364; Vol. 25, p. 488; Vol. 26, p. 641)

A master count of inmates at Charlotte Correctional was regularly performed around 8:30 p.m. (Vol. 25, p. 491) Correctional Officer Kenneth George picked up the "count slip" for A-Dorm from Darla Lathrem around 8:55. (Vol. 25, pp. 492-494, 496) Officer George did not enter A-Dorm, but met Officer Lathrem on the sidewalk outside. (Vol. 25, p. 493) Officer George was aware that there was an inmate crew working that night, but did not see any of the inmates. (Vol. 25, pp. 494-495) When Officer George left, Officer Lathrem headed back to the dorm. (Vol. 25, p. 494)

On June 11, 2003, Mark Pate was working as a correctional officer at Charlotte Correctional Institution. (Vol. 24, p. 335) He was "sergeant over the yard[,]" which meant that his job involved any type of movement of the inmates, and feeding the inmates. (Vol. 24, p. 336) Officer Pate worked third shift, 4 p.m. to midnight. (Vol. 24, p. 337) Officer Pate would normally check on an officer who was supervising an inmate night crew at least one time a night, when he did his "lock checks," which was

normally around 10:00. (Vol. 24, p. 363, 365) He did not know of any other checks that would be made. (Vol. 24, p. 365)

Officer Pate and the other officers inside the fenced area of the prison did not carry guns or Tasers. (Vol. 24, p. 337) There was, however, a gun truck which patrolled outside of both perimeter fences; Officer Schustrom was the perimeter security officer on duty the night of June 11, 2003, and he was armed with a 12-gauge shotgun. (Vol. 24, pp. 346, 372-373, 377-388) Officer Pate and the other correctional officers did carry chemical spray. (Vol. 24, pp. 365-366) Officer Pate did not carry a body alarm, but he and the other officers carried radios that had a "man-down button" on them which worked the same way as the body alarm, which set off an alarm inside the control room when activated. (Vol. 24, pp. 366, 368)

Around 10 p.m. on June 11, 2003, Officer Pate and other officers received a "red alert" on Zone 5 from the control room via radio, which indicated that the perimeter fencing had been hit or touched. (Vol. 24, pp. 337-338) Officer Pate, who had just come out of "B-dorm," observed a ladder up against the inner-perimeter fence. (Vol. 24, pp. 338-339) The ladder was actually four or five ladders, welded or bolted together, that would form a giant U-shape to go over the inner and outer fences, "almost acting like a bridge." (Vol. 25, p. 597-598; Vol. 26, pp. 732-747) It was made of aluminum. (Vol. 27, p.

822) Inmate Smith was a couple of steps up on the ladder, while Inmate Jones was on the ground, trying to hand something to Mr. Smith. (Vol. 24, pp. 339-340, 343) A third inmate, Appellant, Dwight Eaglin, was in between the two fences. (Vol. 24, pp. 339-341) Officer Pate approached the inmates, yelling at them to get down on the ground, but Mr. Smith and Mr. Jones ran into the back of "A-Dormitory." (Vol. 24, pp. 339-341, 343-344) Mr. Eaglin was trying to climb the outer perimeter fence, on which there was "razor ribbon." (Vol. 24, pp. 340-341)

Officer Pate left zone 5 and went into A-Dormitory to look for Officer Lathrem. (Vol. 24, pp. 345-346) He heard shots being fired [presumably from the gun truck]. (Vol. 24, pp. 345-346, 388) Officer Pate entered the dorm the same way as the two inmates, through the fire exit door, which was unlocked due to the construction. (Vol. 24, pp. 346-347) Two other officers had entered the dorm ahead of Officer Pate. (Vol. 24, p. 347) Officer Pate looked for Officer Lathrem, calling her name as he went. (Vol. 24, p. 347) He stopped at a mop closet, because there was "a large puddle of blood" coming out from under the door. (Vol. 24, p. 348) Officer Pate tried the door, but it would not open. (Vol. 24, p. 348) He banged on the door and called out Officer Lathrem's name. (Vol. 24, p. 348) He called on the radio for emergency keys and an ambulance. (Vol. 24, p. 348) The keys and a nurse arrived and the door was opened.

(Vol. 24, pp. 349-350) Officer Pate observed Officer Lathrem lying in the corner of the closet in a "fetal-type position," with injuries to her head. (Vol. 24, p. 350) Licensed Practical Nurse Robert Colgan observed that Officer Lathrem's "face was all crushed in." (Vol. 25, p. 555) She was not breathing and did not have a pulse. (Vol. 25, pp. 554-555) Nurse Colgan was "99 percent sure she was already deceased." (Vol. 25, p. 556) Officer Lathrem was removed from the closet and taken to medical on a gurney or a stretcher. (Vol. 24, pp. 350-353, 422-423; Vol. 25, pp. 556, 568-570) Treatment, including CPR, was attempted in the emergency room, but Officer Lathrem never regained consciousness, and was declared dead by paramedics. (Vol. 25, pp. 556-557) Officer Lathrem's body was taken away by the medical examiner's office at roughly 4:30 a.m. (Vol. 25, p. 600; Vol. 26, p. 686)]

After Officer Lathrem was removed from the closet, Officer Pate observed a 12- to 14-inch sledgehammer immediately outside the door. (Vol. 24, p. 351, 358-359)³

There were some footprints leading away from the mop closet, but neither Lee Dewey with the Criminal Investigation

³ According to Correctional Officer Robert Williams, another State witness, the hammer was lying next to Officer Lathrem inside the closet, where the door had been before it was opened. (Vol. 24, pp. 421-422, 437-438) Licensed Practical Nurse David Keller testified that the hammer was lying just inside the door, between Officer Lathrem and the door when the closet was opened. (Vol. 25, pp. 567-568)

Division of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement nor anyone else photographed them or tried to analyze them to any of the clothing or boots collected from Inmates Eaglin, Smith, Jones, Fuston, or Beaston. (Vol. 27, p. 823)

Officer Lathrem's keys and radio were found in the metal toilet bowl in cell 3106. (Vol. 25, pp. 586, 591-592; Vol. 26, pp. 677, 691, 722-723; Vol. 27, p. 822)

Correctional Officer Timothy Belfield was an A-team (first level) responder to the red alert at Zone 5. (Vol. 24, pp. 383-384) He observed a piece of a ladder lying against the fence, and Inmate Eaglin trapped between the fences. (Vol. 24, pp. 385-386) Mr. Eaglin was wearing state-issued blue pants and shirt, leather welding vest, leather gloves, and state-issued black boots. (Vol. 24, pp. 385-397) Officer Belfield ordered Mr. Eaglin several times to lie down on the ground, but he did not comply. (Vol. 24, pp. 386-387) Mr. Eaglin was very aggravated, very upset, and very verbal, yelling and screaming. (Vol. 24, p. 387) He was saying things such as, "'You're going to have to shoot me; I'll kill you, too; I'll make you kill me.'" (Vol. 24, p. 390)

Mr. Eaglin was trying to get to the outer fence so that he

could escape over it, but there was "constantino [sic] wire,⁴ razor ribbon . . . probably four or five feet up the [outerperimeter] fence." (Vol. 24, p. 389) When he realized he was not going to be able to escape, Mr. Eaglin turned his attention toward Belfield and an officer with him, Sergeant Cullember. (Vol. 24, pp. 390-391) Mr. Eaglin was "out of control[,]" and Belfield himself was "loud and boisterous, trying to let him know the seriousness of it." (Vol. 24, p. 391) The two officers, Belfield and Cullember, went in between the fences to apprehend Mr. Eaglin, who was still in a "hyper state." (Vol. 24, pp. 392-395) Mr. Eaglin backed away from the officers, then stopped and assumed a "defensive stance" with "his hands in the air as if he was ready to fight . . ." (Vol. 24, pp. 394-396) Mr. Eaglin was sprayed with chemical agents, but they seemed to have no effect whatsoever. (Vol. 24, pp. 395-396, 404-405) The officers lunged at Mr. Eaglin and a fight ensued. (Vol. 24, pp. 396-397) They were able to subdue him and handcuff him behind his back. (Vol. 24, p. 397) Mr. Eaglin was still angry and out of control and tried to kick, bite, and head-butt the officers. (Vol. 24, p. 397) After Mr. Eaglin was removed from the fenced area, another sergeant secured his legs with shackles. (Vol. 24, pp. 397-398) Mr. Eaglin appeared to have a gash or cut from the

⁴ There are several references in the trial transcript to "constantino wire." It may be that these references should be to "concertina wire" instead.

razor ribbon on one of his forearms, and he was "covered in blood." (Vol. 24, p. 399) He was placed in a holding cell. (Vol. 24, pp. 425-426, 442)

Sergeant Robert Williams, who was assigned as a dorm supervisor at Charlotte Correctional Institution on July 11, 2003, responded to a radio call that night around 9:55 or 10:00 regarding a possible escape. (Vol. 24, pp. 411-412) He observed Inmate Eaglin between the fences with his shirt off, "yelling, obviously agitated." (Vol. 24, p. 413-414) Sergeant Williams was directed by his supervisor to go to A-Dorm to secure the other inmates that had been working there and to try to locate the officer. (Vol. 24, p. 414) He entered "quad 3" through the fire exit door, but did not see the inmates there. (Vol. 24, pp. 415, 429) There were numerous tools and ladders lying all around the quad. (Vol. 26, pp. 660-661, 673-676) When Sergeant Williams looked through a window into quad 2, he observed the inmate plumbers, Mr. Smith and Mr. Jones. (Vol. 24, pp. 415-416) Sergeant Williams entered the quad and ordered the two inmates to lie face down and put their hands behind their backs, which they did. (Vol. 24, p. 416) He and Officer Kozdras then handcuffed the men. (Vol. 24, p. 416; Vol. 26, pp. 628-629) The two inmates were eventually escorted out of the quad. (Vol. 26, p. 654)

A third inmate, John Beaston, was standing in a locked cell, holding a rag to his head; he was apparently bleeding in the forehead area. (Vol. 24, p. 418) He had "a depressive skull fracture approximately a half inch." (Vol. 25, p. 574) Mr. Beaston "asked what had happened because he lost recall from the trauma." (Vol. 26, p. 667) At approximately 11:00 p.m., Mr. Beaston was taken to the Medical Department in a wheelchair. (Vol. 25, pp. 574-575; Vol. 26, p. 653)

Another inmate, Charles Fuston, was in a cell upstairs, lying face down on the floor, with a "massive amount of blood around him." (Vol. 24, p. 419; Vol. 26, p. 631) He was breathing, but was not responsive. (Vol. 24, p. 419; Vol. 26, pp. 631-632, 649-650, 665-666) When Licensed Practical Nurse David Keller arrived at this cell, the lights were off, and all he could see was "the floor covered with blood." (Vol. 25, p. 572) A C-collar was placed on Mr. Fuston, and he was placed on a backboard and taken to the emergency room on a gurney. (Vol. 25, pp. 572, 576; Vol. 26, pp. 650-653, 666)

When Charles Fuston arrived at Lee Memorial Hospital, he was comatose, and was "at or near the point of death." (Vol. 26, pp. 705, 708-709) His skull was fractured in multiple areas. (Vol. 26, pp. 702-703) He was placed on a ventilator. (Vol. 27, pp. 945-946) Mr. Fuston experienced swelling of the brain that worsened over time. (Vol. 27, pp. 946-948) He was eventually

taken off the ventilator, and he died at 1:15 p.m. on June 13, 2003. (Vol. 27, pp. 948,)

It would have taken "a very heavy object" to inflict the injuries to Mr. Fuston, and would have taken blunt trauma that was "quite severe." (Vol. 27, pp. 934, 949) The sledgehammer introduced into evidence as State's Exhibit Number 4 was consistent with the type of instrument that could have caused the injuries to Mr. Fuston. (Vol. 27, pp., 927, 937, 949)

The medical examiner, Dr. Imami, who performed the autopsies on both Darla Lathrem and Charles Fuston, opined that three or four fatal blows were struck to Mr. Fuston's head. (Vol. 27, p. 936) The cause of his death was "[c]ranialcerebral injuries, secondary to blunt-trauma to the head." (Vol. 27, p. 937) Dr. Imami "really did not see any typical defensive wounds" to Mr. Fuston. (Vol. 27, p. 936)

The autopsy performed on Darla Lathrem revealed that she had incurred several skull fractures. (Vol. 27, pp. 896-908) Her injuries were limited to the head area. (Vol. 27, pp. 908-909) There was no evidence of any defensive wounds, and no evidence of any sexual assault. (Vol. 27, pp. 909-910) The cranial-cerebral injuries were the cause of her death. (Vol. 27, p. 912) She was struck with heavy, blunt force trauma at least three times, two on the right-hand side of the head, and one in the face. (Vol. 27, pp. 912, 941) Any one of the blows would

have caused Officer Lathrem's death. (Vol. 27, p. 913) She most likely would have lost consciousness immediately after any of the blows. (Vol. 27, p. 939) The sledgehammer introduced into evidence as State's Exhibit Number 4 was consistent with the type of instrument that could have caused the injuries to Officer Lathrem. (Vol. 27, pp. 914-915)

Kenneth Lykins was a 12-time convicted felon who was an inmate at Charlotte Correctional Institution on June 11, 2003, and was still an inmate in the Florida Department of Corrections when he testified at Eaglin's trial. (Vol. 25, pp. 501-502) His job assignment at Charlotte C.I. was "security tool cart;" he did work that did not involve class A tools, which were saws and cutting-type tools. (Vol. 25, pp. 502-503) Several times, Mr. Lykins had worked in A-Dormitory, but only during the day. (Vol. 25, p. 509) The work that was being done there in June, 2003 included plumbing, lockers being welded underneath beds, cells being "pressure washed and reconstruction-painted," and an addition being built in the TV room area for a nurses' station and for "psychiatrists and stuff like that to come in and evaluate inmates." (Vol. 25, pp. 509-510)

Mr. Lykins was housed in D-Dormitory, which was an open-bay dormitory; it did not have two-man cells, but had "lines and rows of bunks" and was "just a large room." (Vol. 25, pp. 471, 505)

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