IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DWIGHT T. EAGLIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-760 Lower Tribunal No. 03-1525F

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0014087 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In reviewing the circumstances and events leading up to these two murders, one could easily wonder if this is the right way to run a prison. However, the issue of negligent operation of a prison and proximate cause is to be determined in the Courts in which those actions lie. The issue for this Court is whether or not the manner in which CCI was operated can serve as a mitigator in a sentencing decision involving two counts of first degree murder.

This Court has considered at length each of the alleged mitigators c.) through k.). At the Spencer hearing, the inquired of defense counsel Court as to whether he considered any one or more of these nine elements more important than the others; the response was that they were equally important and each required weighing. all In response to the Court's inquiry as to whether they could be considered in the aggregate, he responded that they could not. The Court's view is that they collectively sound in negligence and could be weighed and evaluated in the aggregate, or collectively.

However, this Court concludes that these allegations of prison negligence must be rejected as mitigators, both individually and collectively. There appear to be no cases on point and none have been argued to the Court. The State contends that the case of Howell v. State, 877 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 2004) is pertinent because it considered the issue of defense counsel's fault, vel non, in not raising the negligence of a state trooper in opening a package in violation of trooper policy as state а mitigating circumstance in a trial for murder of the trooper. The Howell decision concluded that counsel's failure to raise

the issue as a mitigator was within the scope of reason because it was reasonable to conclude that evidence of the alleged policy violation would not have impacted the defendant's moral culpability for the crime. Moral culpability is the issue.

----evidence is mitigating if, in fairness or in the totality of the defendant's life or character, it may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed. *Howell* at 697.

One can hypothesize many situations where the negligence of someone with a duty to care makes it easier for a perpetrator to commit a crime. For example, what if a parent of a young child neglects to keep that child from playing in the street? Along comes an intoxicated driver who kills or maims the child playing in the street. Is moral culpability somehow lessened through the negligence of the parent? Or, even worse, what if that child is kidnapped and murdered? Is there any less moral culpability because of the parent's negligence?

This Court concludes that even if negligence in these nine ways, c.) through k.), is conceded for discussion purposes, it cannot and should not reduce the moral culpability for murder. These nine proposed mitigators, individually and collectively, are, therefore, rejected as repugnant to order in a society which strives to live by the law. Even if the Court could conclude that these nine factors were entitled to weight, that weight they could receive is incapable of changing the result in this case.

(V19:3687-89).

Even if this Court were to find that the trial judge abused its discretion in precluding defense counsel from introducing the three minute videotape from the local television station, such an error was harmless in this case. <u>See State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). As previously noted, Appellant presented similar evidence at the penalty phase in the form of live testimony from two CCI prison guards who echoed the same concerns voiced by the unidentified guard trainee in the news story. Additionally, Appellant presented evidence from Daryl McCasland, an inspector with DOC's Inspector General's Office, regarding his investigation of the murders at CCI which included his findings that there were numerous problems in the manner in which CCI was operated. (V29:1256-80). Finally, Appellant called James Aiken, a former warden with the North Carolina Prison System who was recognized as an expert witness in prison/inmate management. Mr. Aiken evaluated CCI at the time of the murders and concluded that there were numerous system failures in the prison system: inmate classification, tool controls, key controls, allowing inmate accountability, construction mobility, inmate supervision, security staffing, staff supervision, and monitoring systems. (V29:1305-27).

After hearing all of this evidence, the trial court rejected the allegations of prison negligence as a mitigating factor and sentenced Appellant to death for the two murders finding that the aggravating circumstances greatly outweighed the mitigating evidence.¹⁶ The trial court further noted even if the prison

¹⁶ The State's evidence established five aggravating circumstances applicable to Correctional Officer Lathrem's murder: (1) the capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under a sentence of imprisonment; (2) Appellant was previously convicted of another

negligence mitigating factors were entitled to weight, that weight "is incapable of changing the result in this case." (V19:3689). Thus, even if Appellant had been allowed to present the brief news story, it would not have changed the outcome of the proceedings. Accordingly, this Court should find that the trial court acted within its discretion in granting the State's motion in limine, and even if the court erred, such an error was harmless.

capital offense or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person; (3) the capital felony was committed for the purpose of effecting an escape from custody; (4) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification; and (5) the victim of the crime was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of her official duties. All but the "victim was a law enforcement officer sapplied to Charles Fuston's murder.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDINGS.

In his third issue on direct appeal, Appellant argues that this Court cannot conduct its proportionality review because not all available mitigating evidence was presented below. Additionally, Appellant argues that the trial court erred by not considering all mitigating evidence available in the record. Because both of these claims lack merit, this Court should affirm the trial court's sentences of death.

Appellant did not waive the presentation of mitigation evidence in the instant case. Rather, Appellant presented testimony from four witnesses regarding the alleged negligence of the CCI prison system and Appellant himself testified before the jury and at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing. During the penalty phase, defense counsel informed the trial court that he had numerous discussions with Appellant "about putting on a lot of social work things, issues regarding childhood and things of that nature. And it was his opinions at the outset and I believe remains his opinion that we would not do that as far as putting his family through some things that he didn't feel would be fair to them, and as far as putting on Mr. Tim Wiggy who was a foster parent of his in the early years. And we have gone ahead with our

preparation on the basis of his wishes along those lines."¹⁷ (V29:1341-42). Thereafter, the trial judge questioned Appellant about his desire not to present this type of mitigation evidence and he concurred with his counsel's representations. Defense counsel then informed the court that he also had discussed presenting mental mitigation with Appellant and counsel made the strategic decision not to present such evidence because it would be "dangerous" to present such evidence to the jury. (V29:1342-43). Appellant informed the court that he agreed with his attorney's decision regarding the mental mitigation and told the court that "when I talked to the doctor, he told me that it was just between him and I. And he wouldn't talk to anybody else. I wouldn't have made any discussion with him if I thought he was going to talk to anybody besides my attorney."¹⁸ (V29:1343).

Appellant first argues that the jury's death recommendations cannot be considered reliable because the jury did not hear all the available mitigation evidence. Although couched in different

¹⁷ On February 17, 2005, a little over a year before the penalty phase, defense counsel informed the court that he had been "working on mental mitigation continuously and have been since day one; in fact, before we were appointed" and counsel had "been all over the county developing social information for purposes of Phase II." (Supp. V7:1200).

¹⁸ A few days after the penalty phase, defense counsel filed a formal notice of Intent Not to offer Mental Mitigation and a Notice of Intent Not to Offer Dr. Harry Krop as a Defense Witness. (V17:3333-34).

terminology, Appellant's claim is actually one of ineffective assistance of counsel based on trial counsel's decision not to present certain types of mitigation evidence to the jury and court. Such a claim is not cognizable on direct appeal.

The law is well established that a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is generally not cognizable on direct appeal. An exception to this general rule is recognized where the claimed ineffectiveness is apparent on the face of the record. Such an instance is not presented here. See Mansfield v. State, 758 So. 2d 636, 642 (Fla. 2000); Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55, 63 & n.14 (Fla. 2001); Wuornos v. State, 676 So. 2d 972, 974 (Fla. 1996) ("We find that this argument constitutes a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel not cognizable on direct appeal, but only by collateral challenge."); Martinez v. State, 761 So. 2d 1074, 1078 n.2 (Fla. 2000); Lawrence v. State, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1074 (Fla. 1997); McKinney v. State, 579 So. 2d 80, 82 (Fla. 1991) ("The trial court is the more appropriate forum to present such claims where evidence might be necessary to explain why certain actions were taken or omitted by counsel."); Gore v. State, 784 So. 2d 418, 437 (Fla. 2001) ("Even assuming that an ineffective assistance of counsel claim could be properly these circumstances, with asserted under rare exception ineffective assistance of counsel claims are not cognizable on direct appeal."); Consalvo v. State, 697 So. 2d 805, 811-812 n4

(Fla. 1996).

In the instant case, trial counsel stated on the record that he had conducted extensive investigation into nonstatuory mitigation, and in the case of the social background type of mitigation, counsel indicated that Appellant did not want to present this evidence. Clearly, the "defendant possesses great control over the objectives and content of his mitigation" and "has the right to choose what evidence, if any, the defense will present during the penalty phase." Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 189-90 (Fla. 2005). As to mental mitigation, counsel indicated that his client did not want to present such evidence and that counsel had made the strategic decision not to present such evidence because it would be "dangerous." Because Appellant's instant claim is one of ineffective assistance of counsel that should only be addressed in а collateral postconviction proceeding, this Court should reject the instant claim.

Appellant next argues that the trial court erred by not considering all of the mitigation evidence available in the record. In <u>Farr v. State</u>, 621 So. 2d 1368, 1369 (Fla. 1993), this Court stated that "mitigating evidence *must* be considered and weighed when contained anywhere in the record, to the extent it is believable and uncontroverted." In this case, Appellant argues that the court erred by not considering mitigation

evidence contained in Appellant's presentence investigation report (PSI) and in a "report" authored by Dr. Harry Krop that was attached to Appellant's "Notice of Mental Mitigation Pursuant to FRCRP 3.202(b)(c)".

Clearly, the trial court did not err by refusing to consider the "potential" mitigation noted by Dr. Krop in his attachment to Appellant's notice of intent to present mental mitigation. This Court in Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419-20 (Fla. 1990), established relevant standards of review for mitigating circumstances: Whether a mitigating circumstance has been established by the evidence in a given case is a question of fact and subject to the competent substantial evidence standard, and the weight assigned to a mitigating circumstance is within the trial court's discretion and subject to the abuse of discretion standard.¹⁹ See also Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1055 (Fla. 2000) (receding in part from Campbell and holding that, although a court must consider all the mitigating circumstances, it may assign "little or no" weight to a mitigator); Kearse v.

¹⁹ Appellant also notes that the court erred by not considering his evidence of the negligent operation of CCI as a mitigating factor when sentencing Appellant to death. As this issue was discussed by Appellee in Issue II, the State will not reiterate its argument in detail here. Simply put, the alleged negligence of Florida's Department of Corrections did not in any way constitute mitigation evidence that was "relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant." <u>See</u> § 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (2003).

<u>State</u>, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1134 (Fla. 2000) (observing that whether a particular mitigating circumstance exists and the weight to be given to that mitigator are matters within the discretion of the sentencing court).

Here, although Dr. Krop's letter to defense counsel indicated that he had "potential mitigating" evidence regarding Appellant's suffering from a "serious psychiatric disorder," after having been diagnosed with bipolar disorder, this evidence is certainly not believable and uncontroverted. As previously noted, defense counsel made the strategic decision not to present evidence from Dr. Krop because it would be "dangerous," and defense counsel never proffered any mental mitigation at any State most certainly would have attacked time. The the credibility of any mental mitigation presented by Dr. Krop, as evidenced by defense counsel's decision not to present such Thus, because this evidence is not "believable and evidence. uncontroverted," and was never presented by defense counsel, the trial court was under no obligation to consider it in mitigation.

With regard to the information contained in the PSI, Appellant concedes in his brief that the trial court considered the information regarding Appellant's traumatic childhood and afforded this mitigation "some weight." Initial Brief of Appellant at 59. Appellant, however, argues that the court should have also considered the notation in the PSI that, "per a

report previously done by the Florida Department of Corrections related to the Pinellas [County murder] charge, it was noted that Eaglin had utilized cocaine and alcohol during his teenage years with prescribed Prozac." (Supp. V8:1296).

Although the trial court noted that Appellant's PSI contained references to his taking prescription medication for depression, the trial court did not specifically note that Appellant had apparently "utilized" cocaine and alcohol as a teenager. Even assuming arguendo that the lower court was obligated to treat the drug and alcohol usage information contained in the PSI as "believable and uncontroverted," any error in not considering this evidence was harmless. The substantial aggravators in this case clearly outweigh the slight mitigation evidence. See Bowles v. State, 804 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 2001) (finding that aggravators of HAC, CCP, robbery-pecuniary gain and on probation at time of murder "patently overwhelm[ed]" the mitigation of abusive childhood, history of alcoholism, absence of father figure, and lack of education).

In this case, the trial court's failure to consider evidence that Appellant allegedly utilized cocaine and alcohol as a teenager was harmless. Appellant was serving a life sentence at CCI when he violently murdered a correctional officer and an inmate with a sledgehammer, and attempted to kill another inmate

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